AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

DOUBLE SHIFT EDUCATIONAL EXPERIENCE OF SYRIAN REFUGEE CHILDREN IN LEBANON: CASE OF BATER OFFICIAL SECONDARY SCHOOL

RAZAN ISAM EL GHOUSSAINI

A project
submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of Master of Arts
to the Department of Political Science and Public Administration
of the Faculty of Arts and Sciences
at the American University of Beirut

Beirut, Lebanon April 2022

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

DOUBLE SHIFT EDUCATIONAL EXPERIENCE OF SYRIAN REFUGEE CHILDREN IN LEBANON: CASE OF BATER OFFICIAL SECONDARY SCHOOL

RAZAN ISAM EL GHOUSSAINI

Approved by:

Mr. Rabih Shibli, Director

First Reader

Center for Civic Engagement and Community Service

On behalf of Dr. Carmen Geha, Assistant Professor Political Science and Public Administration

Second Reader

Date of project presentation: April 29, 2022

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

PROJECT RELEASE FORM

Student Name: El Ghoussaini		Razan	Isam	
La	ast	First	Middle	
copies of my projec	t; (b) include such (c) make freely av	copies in the arch	produce hard or electronitives and digital repositors to third parties for research	ries of
As of the o	late of submission			
One year f	rom the date of su	bmission of my pr	oject.	
☐ Two years	from the date of s	ubmission of my p	project.	
☐ Three year	s from the date of	submission of my	project.	
Pagen	May 5	, 2022		
Signature	Ε	D ate		

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project would not have been possible without the support of many people. Many thanks to my adviser, Mr. Rabih Shibli and Dr. Carmen Geha for being a part of this project committee and offered guidance and support. I am also grateful, for the continuous help provided by the PPIA program, Dr. Karim Makdisi and Elias Abdel Sater.

Thanks to the American University of Beirut, a place I have been part of for over 10 years, a place that I am proud to call home. I indeed appreciate the support and motivation of my Director, Dr. Fadia Homeidan. And finally, thanks to my family, and numerous friends who endured this long process with me, always offering support and love

ABSTRACT

OF THE PROJECT OF

Razan Isam El Ghoussaini for Master of Arts

Major: Public Policy and International Affairs

Title: <u>Double Shift Educational Experience of Syrian Refugee Children in Lebanon:</u>
<u>Case of Bater Official Secondary School</u>

Syrian refugee children face frequent interruption of education and limitations in accessing educational services as a result to their forced displacement after the 2011 Syrian Civil War. Lebanon hosts an estimate of 987,000 refugees from Syria's ongoing conflict, out of which 490,000 of them are children of school age. The Lebanese Ministry of Education and Higher Education has opened several double-shift public schools to accommodate the number of refugee children. Around 350 schools in Lebanon are now operating on a double shift basis to provide an education for about 150,000 Syrian refugee children. The double-shift system separates the Lebanese students and the Syrian refugee children, where the Lebanese attend school in the morning shift, and the Syrians attend school in the afternoon shift.

Unfortunately, only about half of Syrian refugee children attend school, leaving more than half not in schools. This issue can, very much, be linked to the cost of enrolment, transportation, and books and stationery. The poor economic situation of Syrian families, nested within the Lebanese complex crisis also led to relying on the children to work instead of attending school child labor. This, in addition to other difficulties that Syrian refugee students face within schools, which include discrimination, language and school curriculum.

Keywords: Refugees, Syrian refugees, Education, Obstacles, Lebanon

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	1		
ABSTRACT	2		
ABBREVIATIONS	4		
1. INTRODUCTION	5		
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	9		
2.1. Background	9		
2.2. Education and Human Rights	10		
2.3. Syrian Refugee Education in Lebanon	11		
2.4. Peterson's Theoretical Framework and Lebanon	13		
3. RESEARCH PROCESS			
4. CASE STUDY			
4.1. Limited and Disrupted Educational Opportunities	19		
4.2. Language Barriers to Educational Access	21		
4.3. Inadequate Quality of Instruction	22		
4.4. Discrimination in School setting	23		
5. CONCLUSION			
BIBLIOGRAPHY			

ABBREVIATIONS

BOSS Bater Official Secondary School

GDP Gross Domestic Product

GFE Global Fund for Education

GoL Government of Lebanon

ISIS Islamic State of Iraq and Syria

NGOs Non-governmental Organizations

SDGs Sustainable Development Goals

UDHR Universal Declaration of Human Rights

UN United Nations

UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund

VASyR Vulnerability Assessment of Syrian Refugees in Lebanon

WFP World Food Programme

SECTION 1

INTRODUCTION

Human migration is the movement of people from one place to the other with the goal of settling, permanently in the new location internally or across borders.

Migration, as individuals or groups, can be an effect to several causes such as lack of employment, war, social insecurity, economic instability, natural disasters, and many others (UNDP, 2017). It is crucial to differentiate between refugees, displaced persons, asylum seekers, and the different types of migrants since these groups are subject to different levels of assistance and protection under international humanitarian law. An asylum seeker is defined as a person running away from persecution or conflict, seeking international protection under the 1951 Refugee Convention (Weis, 1990). A displaced person, on the other hand, is a person who is forced to leave their home because of natural disasters, war, or persecution (UNHCR, 1997). A refugee is an asylum seeker whose claim has been approved by the country in which he or she has submitted it. However, the United Nations considers that displaced persons and asylum seekers are refugees, even before having their claim officially approved by the host country. (Edwards, 2016).

In the process of migration, both the hosting society and migrant have rights and responsibilities according to the New York Declaration which notes the obligation of "refugees and migrants to observe the laws and regulations of their host countries" (para. 39). For example, the migrants have the right to access proper education and at the same time the receiving society is responsible to provide access to such a service according to the Articles of the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees.

Education is a basic human right, which if deprived from, might influence other social elements such as health and consequently lead to further inequalities between and within societies. Indeed, education is a social determinant of health, influencing the quality of life of an individual. In their seminal book "Social determinants of health. The solid facts", Richard Wilkinson and Michael Marmot state that social inequality leads to health inequality. Education, therefore, is one way to lessen these inequalities through empowering the society and investing in schooling (Wilkinson & Marmot, 2003).

International laws have been put forward to protect them and ensure their right to a respectful life. Education is a basic human right for any child (Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 1948; Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989).

Indeed, the United Nations has proclaimed that childhood is entitled to special care and assistance (Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989). Refugee children are especially at risk to drop out and not receive proper education; this is because of the presence of many socio-economic risk factors, such as poverty and household-level determinants. These include parental educational level, social standing, income level, and socioeconomic instability. In a refugee setting, another determinant might also enter the equation: the sociopolitical status of the hosting country, as well as the existing policies (UNHCR, 2021). Hence the need to protect this right through laws, policies, and proper implementation in host countries is crucial (Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989; Refugee Convention, 1951).

Besides the legislative aspect, enablers and challenges in front of the integration of refugee children into the education system in host countries is very context-specific.

This research project is focused on Syrian refugee children in Lebanon, a hosting

country that is not signatory of the 1951 Convention on Refugees. It is also the country with the highest number of refugees per capita in the world, overburdening an already fragile infrastructure. Lebanon has undergone successive political and economic crises, not the least of which is the protracted refugee crisis. Most recently, the country is going through a steep currency devaluation and political turmoil, putting 88% of Syrian refugees under the Survival Minimum Expenditure Basket (SMEB). (VASyR 2021)

The education system in Lebanon is quite different from that in Syria on many levels in terms of curriculum and language, and already suffers from its own weaknesses. Hence, including Syrian refugee children in the educational system in Lebanon has had immense challenges, and both the government of Lebanon (GoL) and partner non-governmental organizations (NGOs) have attempted to bridge gaps through policy and implementation. However, drawbacks still exist, and political and economic challenges are increasingly pressing.

Current existing literature focus on refugee quality of education and access to educational services, with little attention to factors that mold their educational experience at countries of first asylum (Dryden-Peterson, 2015). One framework that attempted to relate pre-resettlement educational experiences to post-resettlement ones in the hosting country for refugee children was that of Sarah Dryden-Peterson. In her report entitled: "The Educational Experience of Refugee Children in Countries of First Asylum", Peterson explains how the previous experiences of refugee children affect their educational experience and exposure to schools in the United States. The author's analysis draws on in-depth research conducted on refugee education in countries of first asylum prior to arrival in the United States. According to Peterson, the gained educational experience of refugee children during their pre-resettlement will in return

negatively influence their post-resettlement experience (Dryden-Peterson, 2016). The aspects proposed are: Limited and disrupted education, language barriers, inadequate quality of instruction, and discrimination in schools.

In this project, I am interested in investigating the pre-resettlement experiences of Syrian children in Lebanon. For that, we will be guided by Peterson's framework in the different phases of the research, and will be employing a qualitative case-study design at a secondary public school.

SECTION 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Background

The Syrian civil war, now in its 12th year, is said to be the biggest humanitarian crisis of the 21st century. It has caused 6.6 million refugees who have fled the war mainly (5.6 million) to neighboring countries (such as Turkey, Lebanon, and Jordan), or to Western countries, especially Europe (UNHCR, 2022a). The presence of many refugees and displaced persons in Lebanon has a huge impact on the Lebanese society, since Lebanon is already struggling with public debt. Powered by enormous debt and the untenable way it was financed, the crisis has lowered Lebanon's gross domestic product (GDP) by "58.1% since 2019, plummeting to an estimated \$21.8 billion in 2021". Being one of the most imbalanced countries, millions have been pushed into poverty, revenues decreased by almost "half in 2021 to reach 6.6% of GDP and real GDP" have deteriorated by an estimate of 10.5% last year (World Bank, 2021). The population of Lebanon has increased by one third especially after the Syrian War, which has put enormous pressure on public services that have become overstretched. Demand surpassed the capacity of the government to meet the needs of both refugees and Lebanese citizens (Osseiran, 2017).

Today, Lebanon is suffering from a complex crisis, with a drastic currency devaluation and political and security turmoil, further exacerbating the protracted refugee crisis (OCHA, 2021). According to the latest vulnerability report of Syrian refugees (VASyR) in 2021 it has been shown that "88% of Syrian refugee families are still below the Survival Minimum Expenditure Basket (SMEB), the absolute minimum

amount required to cover lifesaving needs, similar to 2020 (89%) but significantly higher than the 2019 level (55%)". The same report showed that, on average, the monthly expenditures per capita were two thirds the SMEB (down from 120% in 2019), implying that Syrian refugee families were not meeting the minimum living standards. Additionally, since 2019, the phenomena of children between the ages of 5 and 17 who were engaged in child labor doubled, reaching 5% in 2021, with boys being at risk four times more than girls. Moreover, the report also found that the highest rate of child labor was between the ages of 15 and 17. (VASyR 2021)

More unfortunate figures have been shown by the VASyR 2021 report. In 2020 for instance, the percentage of youth aged between 15 and 24 years who were attending school or university was only 13%. Nevertheless, there was a significant difference between age groups. Those aged between 15 and 19 had a higher attendance rate than the 20 to 24 years group, at 24% and 4% respectively. Among the youth, expenses were still reported as a significant reason for not attending school, however, the two key reasons were either due to marriage or due to work. Moreover, seven out of ten youth were not in education, employment, or training (NEET), with boys (78%) reporting a higher rate than girls (54%). Similar to education attendance, the NEET increased with age. The NEET share among youth aged 15 to 18 years was 57% compared to 75% for those aged between 19 to 24 years.

2.2 Education and Refugee Human Rights

Child education is a basic human right well enshrined in the 1989 Convention on the Rights of the Child and the 1951 Refugee Convention. According to UNHCR, education protects refugee children and youth from forced recruitment into armed

groups, child labor, sexual exploitation and child marriage. Education also strengthens community resilience. Article 28 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child urges parties to ensure compulsory and free primary education to all children, providing secondary and higher education that is diverse and accessible, ensuring access to educational and vocational training, and controlling attendance and drop-out. Yet, literature indicates that a substantial proportion of refugee children (30%) and double that number were not enrolled in school in recent years (VASyR, 2021). The longer refugee children remain out of school, the less likely they are to enroll and finish their education. The situation has been exacerbated since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and the shift to online learning. This has made quality education inaccessible to a substantial proportion of refugee children across multiple education levels. (UNHCR, 2021)

2.3 Syrian Refugee Education in Lebanon

As a response to the complex Lebanese crisis, the government of Lebanon (GoL), supported by international bodies, has established the Lebanon Crisis Response Plan (LCRP) to support its residents, including Syrian refugees. A ministerial body and a UN agency coordinate the management of each sector of the response. The education sector is coordinated by the ministry of education and higher education (MEHE) on the one hand, and UNICEF on the other (LERP, 2021). Together, the GoL along with international actors have set the Reaching All Children with Education (RACE) policy which has been in place since 2014 to support and improve the public education system in Lebanon.

The education system in Lebanon differs from that in Syria mainly with respect to the type of institutions and the use of languages in instruction. At the basic and secondary levels in Syria, instruction is done in Arabic and 97% of basic education schools are public, unlike Lebanon (El Ghali et al, 2017). The Lebanese government's solution to provide education to Syrian children relies on temporal inclusion; providing second shifts exclusively for Syrian children at designated public schools. This strategy has shown many weaknesses, especially in terms of the quality of education and the caliber of the staff hired. A much-needed cooperation between different governmental and ministerial bodies, as well as with NGOs was appealed for (El Ghali et al., 2016; UNESCO, 2019).

Indeed, schools in Lebanon are dealing with four general types of challenges: spatial, socio-emotional, cultural, and academic (Mahfouz, 2019). This has been further exacerbated since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic and the shift to online learning, coupled with the economic collapse. For the 2020 – 2021, "only 53% of school-aged children (6 to 14 years) were attending school in the year 2020-2021, which represents a 14-percentage points reduction from 67% in 2020" (VASyR, 2021). Regrettably, MEHE is posing immense challenges in front of Syrian children's enrollment, especially requiring legal documentation that is almost impossible to fetch (Lebanon: Syrian Refugee Children Blocked from School, 2021).

In addition, Syrian refugee families are unable to afford paying for school tuition and other related costs such as transportation, stationary, and books. Nine out of 10 Syrian refugees live in extreme poverty, which has pushed a significant proportion into child labor. Around 5% of children 5-17 years old were engaged in child labor in 2021, an increase from 4% in 2020 and 3% in 2019 (VASyR, 2021).

Unfortunately, the school-age refugee population exceeds the current intake of the country's public schools and an over-stretched and under resourced system faces acute pressure (Adelman, 20; VASyR, 2021; Human Rights Watch 2021b). Moreover, supporters were unsuccessful in acting on assurances to ensure that there is 'no lost generation' of vulnerable populations; \$32.93 million are needed to cover for education sector expenses in Lebanon (OCHA, 2021). The Lebanese government has lost credibility vis-à-vis international funders who have pointed out the lack of transparency and accountability in spending funds allocated to education. This will be problematic in terms of securing emergency funding to save the generation. (Human Rights Watch, 2021)

2.4 Peterson's Theoretical Framework and Lebanon

To fulfill the aim of this research project, at first, the work of Sarah Dryden-Peterson in this field will be introduced. The author's theoretical framework on the experience of refugee children in countries of first asylum will help explore the topic at an international level.

In her report entitled: "The educational Experience of Refugee Children in Countries of First Asylum", Peterson explains how the previous experiences of refugee children affect their educational experience and exposure to schools in the United States. She states that during this transition period in the resettlement, clashes are often caused by factors such as language obstacles, privacy concerns, cultural misunderstandings, and stereotypes. The author's analysis draws on in-depth research conducted on refugee education in countries of first asylum prior to arrival in the United

States; in this study, I focus on the case of Lebanon as a country of first asylum for Syrian refugee children.

1. Limited and disrupted education: In her report, Peterson states that there are several causes behind this disruption throughout the migration stages. During the migration's first stages, access to education is limited or even absent since the refugee

Peterson identifies four key factors that are significant for education in the U.S.:

children are still in conflict context. In addition, many children are registered to school

at an older age and thus attending classes with younger children and graduating at an

older age. Peterson mentions that disruption in the children's education is also affected

by the country's legal restrictions as well as the process of ongoing migration.

2. Language barriers: Peterson claims that language is a major tool in an educational system to be able to build knowledge. Weak language is associated with low educational attainment, and can disrupt a student's social, emotional, and behavioral development. Teachers use language to communicate and deliver lessons. If students cannot understand and comprehend the teacher's talk, their learning suffers. They may act-up or begin to disengage because they are bored, confused, or feel stupid.

- **3. Inadequate quality of instruction**: Peterson claims that the quality of education provided to refugees in general is uneven and poor, therefore refugee children do not acquire the knowledge and skills that they should normally obtain. This in addition to the lack of needed resources where the student-teacher ratio is so high and teachers training, and qualifications are low. When teaching is often teacher-centered and based on lectures, then refugee children will have minimal participation opportunities.
- **4.** and discrimination in schools: Syrian refugee students have been facing various forms of discrimination, bullying, and harassment due to the differences of culture,

ethnicity, and even social class. Peterson identifies discrimination in two main aspects. The first is discrimination in the curriculum that is taught, where most of the time refugee children cannot relate to the material as the nationals do. The other is the personal discrimination and bullying. This is a main factor that hinders the enrollment of Syrian refugee children and causes enrolled students to drop out after registration. Discrimination and bullying affect the children's ability to learn or motivation to attend. Cases of discrimination and bullying can also discourage other students from enrolling (Human Rights Watch, 2021a & 2021b; Adelman, 2019; VASyR, 2021).

After exploring Peterson's theoretical framework, this project will link the author's findings to Lebanon, to identify the relevance of those four main aspects at a national level.

SECTION 3

RESEARCH PROCESS

This project examines the theoretical and practical relevance of the preresettlement educational experiences for post-resettlement education of Syrian refugee
children, by analyzing the aforementioned four main factors that Peterson identifies in
her report, but in the Lebanese context. A review of the theoretical framework of Sarah
Dryden-Peterson on educational experience of the refugee children in countries of first
asylum will be conducted, and compared to the reality of Syrian refugee children in the
Lebanese context with an aim of:

- 1. Examining how the four factors in Peterson's findings intersect with the findings of research conducted in Lebanon,
 - 2. Comparing findings of Peterson with findings based on interviews at BOSS,
- 3. and suggesting possible policy recommendations and actions to be adopted by the Lebanese government, school and key stakeholders who are active in this field to enhance the refugee children's experience.

Qualitative research methods were used, which included a desk review and a study of previous literature (research papers, books, reports, and articles) coupled with field research by taking BOSS in Lebanon as a case study, whereby a series of interviews were conducted with students, parents, and school staff. This mixed-method approach will support in evaluating the quality of education provided to Syrian refugees in Lebanon whereby the findings from the field research will compared to Peterson's findings to validate which of the four factors apply to Lebanon and how they vary from

the countries where her research was conducted. Additionally, the research will look into about the role of the Lebanese Government, schools, NGOs, and foreign aid in handling these problems. The use of multiple resources to triangulate the information will provide comprehensive content and a temporal view of the matter.

Prior to conducting field research, a series of approval applications were submitted starting with the Ministry of Education, BOSS Lebanon and AUB's Institutional Review Board (IRB). Additionally, the process included the use of parental and child consent forms for all those participating in the interviews. Interviews were conducted with five refugee students attending BOSS between the ages of 7 to 11 years old, this specific age group was selected as the majority of refugee students attending BOSS belonged to this age group and interviewing younger students would result of less accurate information since they might not be able to comprehend or express their experiences deliberately. Additional interviews were conducted with two parents to further examine the four main factors that Peterson identifies in her report and check their applicability, in addition to interviews with two teachers and the school principal. Nonetheless, this process included some challenges as a result of the economic crisis facing Lebanon and the Covid-19 pandemic, which hindered conducting face-to-face interviews. Different interview methods were explored as a result such as the use of online platforms however, this also posed as a barrier since the majority of the targeted individuals were vulnerable and did not have the access or the knowledge to use such platforms. Accordingly, interviews were conducted via phone calls.

Upon finalizing the data collection, analysis of the results was conducted, focusing on the main factors affecting the Syrian children's educational experience in Lebanon. Finally, recommendations and possible policy changes were suggested

towards enhancing the educational experience of Syrian refugee children and increasing their retention. Based on these findings, a set of recommendations were established that stipulate on the urge for the Lebanese government to undertake reforms that go beyond the context of its current education policies and seek increased foreign aid directed towards improving access of refugee children to schools.

SECTION 4

CASE STUDY ON BATER OFFICIAL SECONDARY SCHOOL

After reflecting on Peterson's theoretical framework and applying it at a national level, BOSS is taken as a case study to analyze the four main factors that Peterson discusses which affect the educational experience of refugee children. BOSS, located in Bater – El Chouf area, is one of the public schools authorized by the Lebanese Ministry of Education and Higher Education to teach non-Lebanese students during afternoon shifts including Syrian refugee children.

In Lebanon, most refugees rely on its public education, which was already weak before the Syrian War. The influx of Syrian refugees has further strained public schools, with the number of school-aged Syrian refugees far exceeding the 249,494 Lebanese children enrolled in public schools in 2015-2016.

4.1 Limited and Disrupted Educational Opportunities

Peterson states that there are several causes behind this disruption throughout the migration stages. During the migration's first stages, access to education is limited or even absent since the refugee children are still in conflict context. In addition, many children are registered to school at an older age and thus attending classes with younger children and graduating at an older age. Peterson mentions that disruption in the children's education is also affected by the country's legal restrictions as well as the process of ongoing migration.

The Lebanese government has taken important steps to enroll Syrians in formal education. The Lebanon Crisis Response Plan recognizes that all children aged 3-18

"have a right to and are eligible to access education, irrespective of their status."

However, several factors deprive Syrian refugee children of their right to education in Lebanon by preventing or hindering enrollment, or causing enrolled students to drop out once registered. These factors include lack of local compliance in implementing the enrollment policy; limiting school ratios and minimums; insufficient support for refugee children adapting to the curriculum and new languages; lack of available space; family poverty pushing children to work instead of attending school; transportation costs; violence, bullying, and harassment; lack of a quality education; lack of access to sanitation facilities; and insufficient psychosocial support. Older children, girls, and children with disabilities face particular barriers to enrolling in school.

One of the main reasons for disrupted education for refugees in Lebanon is economic barrier, especially in the current financial and economic crisis Lebanon is facing. Many refugee children do not come to school regularly or drop out due to family financial hardship. Additionally, some parents did not support their children's educations either because they could not afford it, or they needed their child to contribute to the family's income instead.

Poverty and child labor are major barriers to refugee children's access to education. While some refugee children try to juggle work and school, they are more

likely to drop out if they work long hours and undertake heavy work, as the result is low energy and concentration in class, which hamper their learning and ability to keep up.

On the other hand, interview results show that students are still traumatized as reported by the teachers, where they noted that there is a significant need to provide counselling and support to students in parallel to their education.

4.2 Language Barriers to Educational Access

Peterson claims that language is a major tool in an educational system to be able to build knowledge. Weak language is associated with low educational attainment, and can disrupt a student's social, emotional, and behavioral development. Teachers use language to communicate and deliver lessons. If students cannot understand and comprehend the teacher's talk, their learning suffers. They may act-up or begin to disengage because they are bored, confused, or feel stupid.

Several subjects in the Lebanese curriculum are taught in either French or English, as opposed to the all-Arabic Syrian curriculum, making it difficult for some Syrian refugee students to catch up. In addition to the language of instruction, the curriculum also differs from Syria's educational curriculums in terms of structure and content. At BOSS, the learning language used is French. Throughout the in-depth interviews, parents, students and school staff shared some of the challenges they face with the Lebanese curriculum. Students mentioned that there is a difficulty in comprehending lessons that are not taught in Arabic, whereby they are having a hard time keeping up with other students as a result of that. This is significant since in BOSS, this academic year is the first year where Syrian refugee students are separated into afternoon shifts, previously they were integrated in classes with Lebanese students,

receiving the same curriculum at the same pace, which caused even more difficulties for refugees to keep up. This was evident in the interviews where almost all refugee children mentioned that they are afraid to speak up in class if they did not understand something in fear of being laughed at by others in the classrooms, which validates Peterson's claim. Additionally, Parents mentioned that they are unable to offer the needed educational support to their children after school when it comes to homework and studying for exams since the language is also foreign to them.

Many countries who are hosting Syrian refugees struggle with this issue, since the host country education systems use learning resources and curriculums that they already have available. Though the local and main language in Lebanon should not be a barrier, however, schools in Lebanon teach some of the key subjects either in English or French, which are creating these challenges, particularly for older children who enroll in higher grades as compared to children who start school at an early age.

Extra academic support must be made widely available, it is equally important to provide teachers with the necessary training on addressing these children's needs. The barriers that result from language not only impacts a students' ability to learn, but also affects the pace and degree of social and cultural cohesion with the host community that is so essential to adapting to a new context. It is, therefore, a cornerstone to an effective inclusive refugee education policy.

4.3 Inadequate Quality of Instruction

Peterson claims that the quality of education provided to refugees in general is uneven and poor, therefore refugee children do not acquire the knowledge and skills that they should normally obtain. This in addition to the lack of needed resources where

the student-teacher ratio is so high and teachers training, and qualifications are low. When teaching is often teacher-centered and based on lectures, then refugee children will have minimal participation opportunities. This is the case that was evident during the interviews with BOSS, the school principal mentioned that recently the GoL is placing limitations and restrictions on the number of refugee students that are enrolled in schools that offer integration programs between the host and refugee children and encourage students in an effort to have these students enroll in specialized UN funded schools or schools that are relying on foreign aid, whereby for the current academic year BOSS enrolled around 30 students whereas previously the number was much higher. This measure mitigates the risks associated with providing uneven and poor education as a result of the lack of needed resources where the student-teacher ratio is so high.

The fact that the quality of education was not the priority in Lebanon, is best summarized by former minister Elias Bou Saab referring to the importance of providing Syrian refugees a place in a school instead of being on the street. He then adopted a policy of pushing students out of the morning shift and widened the second shift dedicated only to Syrian refugees. The socio-political impact of segregating Syrian children from Lebanese ones, was of lower priority despite the high levels of violence reported in the first few years between students in the two shifts. Moreover, there was little discussion about the teacher recruitment policy which prioritized assigning teachers working in the morning, without discussing the implications of teacher fatigue and its impact on the quality of teaching and learning.

4.4 Discrimination in School setting

The literature shows that Syrian refugee students have been facing various forms of discrimination, bullying, and harassment due to the differences of culture, ethnicity, and even social class. Peterson identifies discrimination in two main aspects. The first is discrimination in the curriculum that is taught, where most of the time refugee children cannot relate to the material as the nationals do. The other is the personal discrimination and bullying. This is a main factor that hinders the enrollment of Syrian refugee children and causes enrolled students to drop out after registration.

Discrimination and bullying affect the children's ability to learn or motivation to attend. Cases of discrimination and bullying can also discourage other students from enrolling (Human Rights Watch, 2021a & 2021b; Adelman, 2019; VASyR, 2021).

Interviews at BOSS identifies the presence of the two main discrimination aspects mentioned by Peterson, as previously discussed the use of foreign language in some material and the use of the same curriculum that is already available without tailoring it to the needs of these refugee children is a key barrier for refugee children in Lebanon, especially those who start school at an older age and not from their early years. Due to the current nature of conflict and average length of displacement, most refugee children in protracted situations will live in exile for the duration of their school lives, rather than return to their home countries. As a consequence, prioritizing their inclusion in host country educational systems is now the preferred approach to refugee education. This means, however, that most refugee students will have to follow their host country's curriculum. While taking this approach is the most effective and sustainable way to ensure refugee students access a relevant, quality education that is recognized, it is highly likely that refugee students will have the level of competency

required for academic learning. Ensuring refugee children are supported to learn a new language of instruction is essential, as it holds the key to whether they will be able to access past learning, keep learning in their new classrooms, and integrate and recover.

Apart from that, it is evident that refugee children are facing discrimination from the host community, since all students in the interviews reported that they feel like they do not belong and that they get picked on or discriminated against from their classmates. The recent Inter-agency Multi-sector Needs Assessment (MSNA) specifically recommended having "programs in schools to address social cohesion" as a priority need. However, it is important to note that children at BOSS are not suffering from any discrimination at an institutional level, all students are treated equally when it comes to support and services provided from the teachers and the school. Additionally, refugee students do not require any legal residency to enroll at BOSS, a civil extract is sufficient to get enrolled.

SECTION 5

CONCLUSION

Most of the world's governments have already adopted the objectives of sustainable development, which support educational rights to all, yet we still see that inequality dominates in many others. If quality education is provided, then the new generations get prepared for the future by using their skills and knowledge and increasing income, thus decreasing the risk of social clashes and social exclusions. As the refugee crisis has become more intense and protracted, the absence of learning opportunities has harmed the well-being of children in numerous ways. There is worrying evidence that the crisis in education is contributing to an epidemic of child labor, poverty, and early marriage.

In his book, Sachs states that a Global Fund for Education (GFE) would bring together wealthy countries in order to collaboratively provide financial assistance to countries that need it the most. So, this could be one option for aiding the Syrian refugees and facilitating their access to education. More money enables more education if used and managed properly. The GFE guarantees that even the world's poorest children have the chance to receive proper education for secondary school at least. Such a global fund would guarantee that all children access education (Sachs, 2015). Thus, an additional \$50 billion per year could help in ensuring the Syrian refugee children have access to good schooling and this amount is not hard to save.

As such, the following recommendations are suggested

1. Limited and Disrupted Educational Opportunities

Governments and schools should formulate policies that take into account the refugees it is hosting and must be able to provide all their rights according to the UDHR that Lebanon has signed on. They should also play a role in financing education for the needy and disadvantaged groups such as the Syrian refugees. Investments must be made by the government in educational projects and programs dedicated for the Syrian refugees taking into account the standards and quality of the educational services to be provided.

Education is an essential human right that every Lebanese including refugees should have access to schools. Thus, in collaboration with various governmental and non-governmental organizations, public schools are used by volunteers to provide primary education for the Syrian children after the regular school time is over. As much as this initiative has supported in the teaching and learning process, yet a further step shall be made, and extra international funding shall be provided for this purpose solely.

As such, Lebanon must be able to change its set policies, which limit children's access to education, and ensure that refugee children can enroll in primary schools and continue to secondary school. Syrian refugee students should have the option of attending higher education or vocational training and earning a living. The government should also ensure the proper implementation of its enrollment policy and ensure that there is accountability by enforcing penalties/fines. The Ministry of Education should support non-formal education, at least as a provisional measure until formal education is accessible to all children in Lebanon and ensure that it is of a basic quality and that students have a qualified path to formal education. The government should allow Syrians to retain legal status by revisiting its residency requirements and allowing those whose status has expired to legalize.

2. Language Barriers to Educational Access

The Lebanese Government should permit Syrians' access to the labor market, specifically by allowing qualified Syrian teachers be part of the education system offered to refugee children. This will lead to the decrease in the language barriers. Lebanon follows a trilingual education system with the language of instruction in key subjects starting in grade 4 often being either English or French, creating challenges, particularly for older children. And many teachers are unable to provide adequate support to provide language reinforcement classes. Language-of-instruction issues impact millions of refugee children, contributing to low academic achievement and high drop-out rates. It is equally important to provide teachers with the necessary training on addressing these children's needs. Fluency in the local language not only impacts the ability to learn, but also influences the pace and degree of social and cultural cohesion with the host community that is so essential to adapting to a new context. It is, therefore, a cornerstone to an effective inclusive refugee education policy.

3. Inadequate Quality of Instruction

It is important for the Lebanese Government, with the help of foreign aid, to support schooling of refugees and to provide the equipment and resources needed such as labs and computers, in addition to training its teachers to become more specialized and capable. Most importantly, the Lebanese Government and NGOs, must ensure equal access to the quality of education in the schools. Therefore, equality should be not only in accessing education, but also in quality of education provided. Investing in education contributes to the well-being of the society and to its stability.

Access to quality education must not be conditional and must be provided equally to everyone. It is a right and a need that should be supported and financed by

the government. In his journal article published in Bold Magazine in June 2015, Jesri states "Everyone can do something; a small contribution can make a huge difference to people's lives. Syrian children have to learn they are not alone and someone cares about them, about their childhood, their future, and the future of a country that will need them" (Jesri, 2015). Aid for education is little, and by the time the money needed gets available, it would be too late, and a whole generation of Syrians will be lost.

4. Discrimination in School Setting

Syrian refugees have been marginalized by the Lebanese state policies and have been deprived from their basic human rights such as access to good education due to the limited resources. Several factors affect the education of Syrian refugee children in Lebanon leading to prevention from enrollment or causing those already enrolled to drop out after registration. These factors include lack of local proper implementation of the enrollment policy; limits enforce on number of school ratios; insufficient support for the Syrian refugee children to adapt to the curriculum and new languages; lack of available space; family poverty leading to children work instead of attending schools; transportation costs; violence, bullying, and harassment; and lack of resources for a quality education. Financial support and external funding must be increased in order to provide proper for counseling when needed.

Education is a human right that shall not be perceived as a means for increasing income only, because it can highly affect social cohesion and inclusion between the Lebanese and Syrian refugees. Moreover, access to education alone does not suffice, as the quality of education is also a factor that can influence students' motivation and increase the dropout rate. Aside from providing schooling to the refugees, their

curriculums and quality of education must be evaluated and adjusted in a way that conveys the refugees' needs.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adelman, E.; Chopra, V. & Dryden-Peterson, S. (2019). *Including and educating Syrian refugees in national education systems – the case of Lebanon.*

Arias, R., Giménez, G., & Sanchez, L. (2016). *Impact of education on poverty reduction in Costa Rica: A regional and urban-rural analysis*. Contemporary Rural Social Work Journal, 8(1), 3.

Arsani, A. M., Ario, B., & Ramadhan, A. F. (2020). Impact of education on poverty and health: Evidence from Indonesia. *Economics Development Analysis Journal*, 9(1), 87-96.

Assembly, U. G. (1948). Universal declaration of human rights. UN General Assembly.

Daily Star. (2018). Discrimination keeping Syrian refugees out of schools: HRW

Dryden-Peterson, S. (2015). The Educational Experiences of Refugee Children in Countries of First Asylum

Dryden-Peterson, S. (2016). Refugee education in countries of first asylum: Breaking open the black box of pre-resettlement experiences

El Ghali, H., Berjaui, R., DeKnight, J. (2017). *Higher Education and Syrian Refugee Students: The Case of Lebanon.* Beirut: UNESCO

El Ghali. H., Ghalayini, N., Ismail, G. (2016). Responding to crisis: Syrian refugee education in Lebanon. Issam Fares Institute for Public Policy and International Affairs at the American University of Beirut

Hamadeh, S. (2019). A critical analysis of the Syrian refugee education policies in Lebanon using a policy analysis framework (Journal of Education Policy 34.3, 2019)

Huitfeldt, H., & Kabbani, N. (2007). Returns to Education and the Transition from School to Work in Syria. American University of Beirut.

Human Rights Watch. (2016a). Barriers to Education for Syrian Refugee Children in Lebanon. https://www.hrw.org/report/2016/07/19/growing-without-education/barriers-education-syrian-refugee-children-lebanon

Human Rights Watch. (2016b). *Growing up without an education.* https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/lebanon0716_brochure_web.pdf

Human Rights Watch. (2016c). *Lebanon: 250,000 Syrian Children Out of School*. https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/07/19/lebanon-250000-syrian-children-out-school

Human Rights Watch. (2019). HRW World Report 2019

Human Rights Watch. (2021a). Lebanon: Action Needed on Syrian Refugee

Human Rights Watch. (2021b). *Lebanon: Syrian Refugee Children Blocked from School*. https://www.hrw.org/news/2021/12/03/lebanon-syrian-refugee-children-blocked-school

Education Crisis. https://www.hrw.org/news/2021/03/26/lebanon-action-needed-syrian-refugee-education-crisis

Jesri, H. (2015). Educating Syrian Refugee Children in Lebanon: the challenge and the opportunity. Beirut: Mantra Communications.

Lebanon Crisis Response Plan (*LCRP*) 2017-2020 (2020 update)

Lebanon Protection Consortium. (2020). 9 Years On: Struggles and hopes of Syrian refugees in Lebanon

Mahfouz, J. (2019). Challenges and agency: principals responding to the Syrian refugee crisis in Lebanese public schools, (International Journal of Leadership in Education, 2019).

Ménacère, K. (2010). Education in Syria. Open University

MOF. (2017). Public Debt and Debt Markets. Beirut: Ministry of Finance.

OCHA. (2021, September). Lebanon crisis response plan.

Olson, J.F., Martin, M.O., & Mullis, I.V.S. (2008). Chestnut Hill, MA: TIMSS & PIRLS International Study Center, Boston College.

Osseiran, N. (2017, January 20). Hariri unveils crisis response plan. Daily Star

Sachs, J.D. (2015). *The age of sustainable development*. Columbia University Press (Ch. 8)

Saleh, W., Al-Jawahiry, W. (2020). Economic Misery Engulfs Syrian Refugees and their Hosts

Shimeles, A., & Verdier-Chouchane, A. (2016). The key role of education in reducing poverty in South Sudan. African Development Review, 28(S2), 162-176.

Shuayb, M. (2014). The Art of Inclusive Exclusions: Educating the Palestinian Refugee Students in Lebanon.

Shuayb, M., Makkouk, N., & Tuttunji, S. (2014). Widening access to quality education for Syrian refugees: The role of private and NGO sectors in Lebanon. Center for Lebanese Studies.

UNESCO. (2014). Education for All Global Monitoring Report 2013/14. Paris:

UNESCO. (2016). Bridging Learning Gaps for Youth: UNESCO Regional Education Response Strategy for the Syria Crisis (2016-2017). Paris, UNESCO.

UNHCR, UNICEF, and WFP. (2017). Vulnerability Assessment of Syrian Refugees in Lebanon. UNHCR, UNICEF, and WFP.

UNHCR. (2021). Staying the course: The challenges facing refugee education.

UNHCR. (2022a). *Syria emergency*. https://www.unhcr.org/syria-emergency.html#:%7E:text=Millions%20of%20Syrians%20have%20escaped,currently%20more%20than%203.6%20million.

UNHCR. (2022b). Education. UNHCR. https://www.unhcr.org/education.html

UNHCR. (2016). Education Sector - Monthly Dashboard, Inter-Agency Coordination Lebanon – 2016. UNHCR

UNHCR. (2016). UNHCR Lebanon Education 2016

UNHCR. (2017). Education Sector - Monthly Dashboard, Inter-Agency Coordination Lebanon – 2017. UNHCR

UNHCR. (2019). UNHCR Lebanon Education 2019

UNICEF. (1989). Convention on the Rights of the Child.

Watkins, K., & Zyck, S. A. (2014). Living on hope, hoping for education. *The Failed Response to the Syrian Refugee Crisis*. London: *ODI*

World Health Organization (WHO). (2013). Regional response to the crisis in the Syrian Arab Republic 2013: World Health Organization. Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Bank. (2010). World Development Indicators.

Wilkinson, R., & Marmot, M. (2003). *Social determinants of health. The solid facts.* (2nd ed.).

World Bank. (2013). Lebanon Bears the Brunt of the Economic and Social Spillovers of the Syrian Conflict.